IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO. 02-2625

RODERICK MICHAEL ORME,

Appellant,

 \mathbf{v}_{ullet}

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF

D. Todd Doss Florida Bar No. 0910384 Post Office Box 3006 Lake City, FL 32056-3006 (386) 758-6800 Attorney for Mr. Orme

I. Preliminary Statement

This proceeding involves an appeal by Roderick Michael Orme of the circuit court's denial of Rule 3.850 relief as to Mr. Orme's sentence of death. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

"R" (followed by page number) -- record on direct appeal to this Court;

"PCR [vol.] (followed by page number) -- record on post-conviction appeal

All other citations, such as those to exhibits introduced during the evidentiary hearing are self explanatory.

II. Standard of Review

Mr. Orme's appeal involves claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. As such these claims present mixed issues of law and fact and are to be reviewed *de novo* by this Court. *Stephens v. State*, 748 So. 2d 1028.

III. Request for Oral Argument

Mr. Orme has been sentenced to death. The resolution of the issues in this action will determine whether Mr. Orme lives or dies. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the stakes at issue. Mr. Orme, through counsel, accordingly urges that the Court permit oral argument.

IV. Statement of Case and Facts¹

Roderick Michael Orme, known to his family and friends as Michael, was born to Linda Henley and Roderick Burr Orme on November 24, 1961, in Washington, D.C. His parents' marriage was beset by fighting and infidelity from the start, and by Mr. Orme's first birthday they had separated. When the divorce became final in 1963, Mr. Orme's father was granted custody of the boy and moved with him from Maryland to Virginia. The bitter fighting between his parents continued, however, and Mr. Orme was used by each parent to manipulate the other. At the age of six Mr. Orme was abducted by his mother, who took him back to Maryland. Less than a year later, Mr. Orme's father walked into the third grade classroom at Jessup Elementary School, punched the third grade teacher in the face, and dragged Mr. Orme from the room. He took the boy to Florida and severed all contact with Mr. Orme's mother. Mr. Orme would not see her again until he tracked her down when he was eighteen.

Mr. Orme's father eventually remarried and the family settled first in Lakeland, then in Panama City. The rest of Mr. Orme's childhood was

¹ Citations from the records on appeal will be noted "R. page #." Citations from the postconviction record, including the transcript, will be noted "PCR at page #." Citations from the DSM III-R will be noted "DSM III-R, page number."

characterized by instability and severe psychological and physical abuse. Four maternal uncles had serious substance abuse disorders (one died of a drug overdose), as well as various forms of mental illness. There was a history of mental illness on the paternal side of the family, too, and Mr. Orme's father himself suffered from bipolar disorder. Rod Orme, Sr., was a short-tempered and abusive man. Some of the abuse was direct—as when Mr. Orme's father struck him or ridiculed him. Other forms of abuse were less immediate but more devastating—for example, one of Mr. Orme's duties as a young boy was to sit on the front porch and keep watch for his stepmother while his father had sex with various women. His father's behavior eventually grew even more perverted: When Mr. Orme was a teenager and had girlfriends of his own, his father would order Mr. Orme to have sex with these girls while his father watched from the closet.

As Mr. Orme grew older, he struggled with the psychological effects of his dysfunctional childhood at the same time as the first symptoms of his own bipolar disorder began to emerge. Careening from incapacitating depressive periods to soaring manic highs, Mr. Orme experimented with drugs as a way to escape his nightmarish home life and achieve some kind of equilibrium. His drug use began with marijuana, then progressed through barbiturates, amphetamines, alcohol, mushrooms, LSD, and cocaine. At the age of eighteen, in a state of despair, Mr.

Orme attempted to commit suicide by taking an overdose of Valium and Demerol.

His brother Eric discovered him unconscious and took him to the hospital where he was revived. Mr. Orme never received therapy for this incident.

Shortly afterward, Mr. Orme tracked down his biological mother, who had moved to West Palm Beach. He moved in with her and her new husband for a period of time, but Mr. Orme's drug abuse and his mother's unsteady marriage led to his returning to Panama City. Mr. Orme was unwelcome at his father's home, however, because of what his father perceived as his defiant behavior in going to live with his mother. Broke, depressed, and with no place to live, he enlisted in the U.S. Marine Corps at the age of 19.

After serving a year in the Marines, Mr. Orme was given a "convenience of government" discharge and returned to Panama City where he held a series of odd jobs. During this time he sought treatment for his drug addiction, which had worsened as his self-esteem plummeted and his bipolar disorder went untreated. At the drug rehabilitation center he was given psychological testing which suggested that, in addition to a bipolar disorder, Mr. Orme may also suffer from schizophrenia.

In 1989 Mr. Orme enlisted in the Merchant Marines. He achieved a measure of success as a seaman and later a captain, even receiving commendation for his

service during the Persian Gulf War. However, the problems which drove him to join the Merchant Marines followed him on his voyages. He struggled with mental illness and drug abuse, often binging on crack cocaine while he was on shore leave. Fearful that his family would reject him if they discovered he was still using drugs, Mr. Orme became adept at concealing his addiction. When visiting Panama City, he confined his drug use to cheap motel rooms where he would not be recognized. Although he was by now a severe cocaine addict, his family believed he led a normal life.

By 1991, less than one year before Lisa Redd was killed, Mr. Orme was out of control. He was spending hundreds of dollars a day on his cocaine habit, and he could no longer endure the extremes of mood brought on by his mental illness. He resumed drug and mental health counseling and succeeded in arresting his crack cocaine addiction for a short period of time. This success was short-lived, however, and the relapse which followed was worse than anything which had preceded it. On March 3, 1992, at the Lee Motel in Panama City, Mr. Orme was in the grips of a full-blown psychosis. He checked himself into the Lee Motel to begin a cocaine binge. Mr. Orme called for a cab and went to the Cove Boulevard area of Panama City, an area known for drug sales. He bought the first bag of crack rocks for the day and returned to Lee's Motel. Mr. Orme shared his crack with the

prostitute that had helped him buy it and had sex with her. The prostitute left a little later and Mr. Orme went back to Cove Boulevard to buy more crack. This time when he returned to his room, he began feeling extremely ill and started to panic. Although he had recently attempted to end their off again on again affair, Mr. Orme called his girlfriend Lisa Redd. Ms. Redd was a nurse and could help him out on her way to work. Ms. Redd stopped by to see Mr. Orme at his motel room and the crack binging was evident. Mr. Orme attempted to smoke more crack while she was there, but she slapped it into the toilet. Mr. Orme then left the motel room to get more crack. He left in Ms. Redd's car after taking her keys from her purse. Mr. Orme then remembers returning later to find Ms. Redd cold and stiff. High on crack and in the throes of his mental illness, Mr. Orme left the motel room again. When he returned, the room was the same and Ms. Redd was only colder and stiffer. In a panic and desperately ill, Mr. Orme went to the drug treatment facility down the street where he had received help before. Mr. Orme walked through the door and instantly Ms. Mackey, the attending registered nurse, recognized that Mr. Orme was a medical emergency. R. at 438-9. He was suffering from a toxic reaction to the hundreds of dollars of cocaine he had consumed in the previous evening. Mr. Orme did manage to scribble on a piece of paper "LEE MOT RM15." R. at 358-9; See also State's Exhibit 1. As Mr. Orme was taken to the

emergency room, Panama City Police were directed to room fifteen of Lee's Motel to find Lisa Redd's dead body. Mr. Orme was questioned by investigators and relayed substantially the story above. Lisa Redd's purse was missing was missing and the semen found when a rape kit was utilized was connected to Mr. Orme. Mr. Orme has no memory of Lisa Redd's death, any sexual contact with Lisa Redd that night or how her purse came up missing and testified to such at his trial. Mr. Orme's trial counsel used an involuntary intoxication defense in the guilt phase and then presented the drug abuse and cocaine toxicosis as mitigation in the penalty phase. Unfortunately trial counsel neglected to present the powerful mitigation evidence of Mr. Orme's bipolar disorder that Dr. Ralph Walker had observed while treating Mr. Orme at the jail to the judge and jury.

Mr. Orme was convicted of one count of first degree murder, one count of robbery, and one count of sexual battery in the Circuit Court, Bay County, before Judge Judy Pittman. Thereafter the jury recommended death by a vote of 7-5 and the trial court sentenced Mr. Orme to death. The trial court in its sentencing order found three aggravators and two statutory mitigators.² . Mr. Orme subsequently

²The Court found the murder was committed in the course of a sexual battery, the murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC), and that the murder was perpetrated for pecuniary gain. In mitigation the Court found Orme suffered from an extreme emotional disturbance and his ability to conform his behavior to the law was substantially impaired. The Court rejected as mitigation Orme's age, his

appealed said conviction to this Court raising eight issues challenging his conviction and sentence.³ *Orme v. State*, 677 So.2d 258 (Fla. 1996). This Court rejected Orme's appeal and affirmed the trial court decision. Orme petitioned the U.S. Supreme Court to grant certiorari and was denied in *Orme v. Florida*, 117 S.Ct. 742 (1997), and he subsequently challenged his conviction and sentence by filing his Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence With Special Request for Leave to Amend on July 19, 2001. 3.850. PCR at 706. A *Huff* hearing was held on September 26, 2001 and the trial court granted Mr. Orme an evidentiary hearing as to Claims I, IV(I), V, and VII, while denying the other claims. PCR at 902. The evidentiary hearing was held on December 12, 13, and 14, 2001.

love for his family, an unstable childhood, potential for rehabilitation, and his good conduct while awaiting trial.

³Orme raised the following points: (1) the trial court should have directed a judgment of acquittal because the State's case was circumstantial and was not inconsistent with all reasonable hypothesis of innocence; (2) his statements to law enforcement were not knowing and voluntary due to his extreme intoxication; (3) death was not a proportionate penalty; (4) HAC aggravator should not have been found because his mental state prevented him from forming the requisite intent to inflict a high degree of suffering on the victim (5) failure of trial court to find he had no significant criminal history; (6) the trial failed to give a special instruction that acts perpetrated on a victim after death are not relevant to determining whether the murder was HAC; (7) the jury instruction as to HAC was in violation of *Espinosa v. Florida*, 505 U.S. 1079, 112 S.Ct. 2926, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992); (8) he was incapable of forming the specific intent to commit murder and his death sentence was barred under *Enmund v. Florida*, 458 U.S. 782, 102 S.Ct. 3368, 73 L.Ed.2d 1140 (1982).

The trial court issued its Order Denying Motion for Postconviction Relief on March 8, 2002. PCR at 1217. The instant appeal follows.

V. Summary of Argument

Mr. Orme was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel at both phases of his capital trial, when evidence of his mental state was not provided to the jury and judge in violation, all in violation of his rights due to Due Process and Equal Protection under the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, as well as his rights under the Fifth, Sixth, and Eighth Amendments.

Trial counsel failed to provide sufficient background data and prior diagnoses to the mental health experts upon whom Mr. Orme relied to present mitigation testimony. This failure resulted in Dr. Walker's pre-trial diagnosis of bipolar disorder never being investigated nor revealed to the mental health experts that assisted Mr. Orme at trial. Additional collateral information indicative of bipolar disorder was never developed and was unknown to trial counsel at the time of trial.

The collateral information was not discovered because trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request and receive a continuance of Mr. Orme's trial; and, additionally, for failing to adequately prepare and investigate mitigating evidence.

Due to trial counsel's failure to provide his mental health experts with sufficient data, the jury never heard that Mr. Orme suffers from a major mental illness, and,

thus, the jury never considered the impact the illness had on his mental state. Mr. Orme's bipolar disorder would have provided an explanation for his drug use and addiction. Additionally, Mr. Orme's bipolar disorder would have provided substantial weight to both statutory and nonstatutory mitigation. Furthermore, Mr. Orme's bipolar disorder could have eliminated the heinous, atrocious, and cruel aggravator by negating the specific intent required to establish it.

The trial judge never made an explicit finding as to whether trial counsel was ineffective for not presenting evidence that Mr. Orme suffered from bipolar disorder, as presented in Claim V of Mr. Orme's motion for postconviction relief. The trial court failed to realize that voluntary intoxication and bipolar disorder are not mutually exclusive mitigating evidence. This failure resulted in a flawed order that does not address the powerful mitigating effect that a combination of Mr. Orme's bipolar disorder and his extreme cocaine intoxication represents.

Four competent experts diagnosed Orme as suffering from bipolar disorder. Knowing a person's mental state is essential to accurately assessing the effects of intoxication and addiction. If evidence of Mr. Orme's bipolar disorder had been presented at trial, the two statutory mental mitigators and non-statutory mitigation that were found would have been afforded much greater weight. Prejudice should have been found based upon the testimony and evidence produced at the post-

conviction evidentiary hearing that the bipolar disorder was available, yet not presented at trial.

Florida's capital sentencing procedure deprived Mr. Orme of his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to notice, to a jury trial and of his right to due process. Mr. Orme was not found guilty beyond a reasonable doubt by a unanimous jury on each element of the offense necessary to establish capital murder, therefore, his death sentence should be vacated.

Mr. Orme's death sentence must be vacated because the elements of the offense necessary to establish capital murder were not charged in the indictment in violation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, the Florida Constitution, and Due Process. Mr. Orme's case is distinguishable from *Bottoson* and *King* and his *Ring* claim should be granted in light of emerging case law.

The general jury qualification procedure employed by the Bay County Circuit Court deprived Mr. Orme of his rights under the Fifith, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution and corresponding provisions of Florida law, this procedure constitutes fundamental error, and counsel was ineffective for failing to litigate this issue.

VI. Mr. Orme was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel

at both phases of his capital trial, when evidence of his mental state

was not provided to the jury and judge in violation, all in violation of his rights due to Due Process and Equal Protection under the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, as well as his rights under the Fifth, Sixth, and Eighth Amendments.

The above caption represents Claim V that Orme argued at the evidentiary hearing on his motion for postconviction relief. The pertinent information developed at the evidentiary hearing regarding Mr. Orme's affliction, bipolar disorder, is as follows. Roderick Michael Orme has bipolar disorder, a major mental illness, which manifests in dramatic mood swings. The disorder is characterized by one or more depressive episodes and one or more manic episodes. *See* Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Third Edition Revised (1987) (DSM III-R).⁴ Although the shift between moods can be influenced by the person's environment and its level of structure, PCR at 1887, the shift occurs with immense variability. PCR at 2024. "It is classic that each

⁴ At this hearing, the State repeatedly attempted to use the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition Text Revision (2000) (DSM IV-TR). However, this edition did not exist at trial. The focus of this hearing was whether trial counsel was ineffective during the penalty phase, which occurred in 1993. The information trial counsel had at that time, as well as the information relied upon by the experts was the DSM III-R. As such, Mr. Orme's mental state at the time of the crime should be assessed under the DSM III-R. Any reference by the State to the DSM IV-TR is irrelevant and improper.

individual that is diagnosed bipolar has a different phase cycle." PCR at 1759. Consequently, a bipolar individual, at irregular occurrences, will present three identities: a depressed identity,⁵ a manic identity,⁶ and a euthymic identity.⁷

Although Mr. Orme suffers from this severe mental illness, bipolar disorder, the jury that recommended death – by a vote of only seven to five – never heard about his illness, its effect on his mental state or on his life. The jury never heard this information because Mr. Orme's trial counsel, Walter Smith, did not present evidence of the disorder, nor did he present testimony from mental health professionals who could testify to his bipolar disorder. The psychologist and

⁵ In a depressive episode, an individual will exhibit at least five of the following symptoms during the same two-week period: a depressed mood; a diminished interest or pleasure in almost all activities; significant weight loss or gain; insomnia or hypersomnia; psychomotor agitation; fatigue or loss of energy; feelings of worthlessness or guilt; diminished ability to think or concentrate; recurrent thoughts of death or suicide. *See* DSM III-R, 222.

⁶ In a manic episode, an individual will exhibit a persistently elevated, expansive, or irritable mood and at least three of the following symptoms: inflated self-esteem or grandiosity; decreased need for sleep; distractibility; increase in goal-directed activity or psychomotor agitation; excessive involvement in pleasurable activities that have a high potential for painful consequences (such as sexual indiscretions); pressured speech; flight of ideas or racing thoughts. There is no exact duration the symptoms need exist to constitute a manic episode. *See* DSM III-R, 217.

⁷ During a euthymic period, an individual will exhibit relatively normal or stable moods. However, even in these periods, a bipolar individual is not truly normal and is still influenced by the illness. PCR at 1886-87 and 18388.

psychiatrist who testified at trial were unable to identify bipolar disorder in Mr.

Orme, because they were provided insufficient background materials and were
never informed of Mr. Orme's previous diagnosis, rendered by Dr. Walker during a
pretrial assessment at the jail.

While mental health professionals generally review collateral data and records of the patient to "get a full picture of a person," PCR at 1759, this background material is even more vital when diagnosing bipolar disorder. PCR at 1891. Due to the "episodic" nature of the disorder, "the opportunity to have information that spans a significant period of time or observe the patient . . . over a significant period of time is a very important aspect in making an accurate diagnosis." PCR at 1891. Trial counsel understood the "episodic" nature of this major mental illness as well as its severity. PCR at 1655-6. Nonetheless, he neglected to give his expert witnesses sufficient background information. For his mental health professionals to have been able to detect and diagnose Mr. Orme's major mental illness, trial counsel needed to provide them with background material as well as the diagnosis rendered by Dr. Ralph Walker.

A. Trial counsel failed to provide sufficient background data and

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