IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RODERICK MICHAEL ORME

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC02-2625

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

¹⁵ It is reasonable to conclude Dr. Warriner communicated this same information to trial counsel before trial.

ineffective for relying on Dr. Warriner's opinion. <u>Pace v.</u> <u>State</u>, 854 So.2d 167 (Fla. 2003)

In any event, Orme has failed to bear his burden to show counsel was ineffective. Based on his own background in biochemistry, his investigation of the case, his conclusions as to the level of Orme's use of cocaine on the night of the murders, and the availability of a mental health expert to explain to the jury the debilitating effect cocaine intoxication had on Orme's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law, trial counsel made a strategic choice to pursue voluntary intoxication in order to save Orme's life.

Trial counsel clearly considered an alternative approach to the conduct of Orme's defense (Dr. Walker's bipolar diagnosis). The record established he made an informed decision to reject it and pursue a course of action supported by the evidence. Trial counsel assessed the potential impact of Dr. Walker's testimony, not only, as Orme claims, upon Dr. Walker's physical health, but upon trial counsel's evaluation of the credibility of Dr. Walker's opinion and the strength of his testimony. Mr. Smith concluded that because Dr. Walker's diagnosis was unsupported by any objective observations or documentation, uncorroborated by any other evidence or opinion in the case, and was based solely on one short visit with Orme in jail, he would retain and rely

upon Dr. McClane. Certainly, the fact that Dr. Warriner, who spent an extended amount of time with Orme, never related to trial counsel that in his opinion Orme was bipolar lends credence to the notion that Mr. Smith reasonably determined that Dr. Walker's diagnosis and testimony was an inadequate foundation upon which to rest Orme's fate.

Additionally, as found by the trial judge, the testimony at the evidentiary hearing was conflicting. In 1992, Dr. Walker, after one visit with Orme in jail, diagnosed Orme with bipolar manic type. Dr. Warriner testified that while he agreed that Orme was bipolar, he disagreed with the type, diagnosing Orme with bipolar disorder, mixed type. (PCR XVII. 1780). Dr. McClane also disagreed with Dr. Walker and Dr. Warriner on the type of bipolar disorder. Dr. McClane would diagnose him as "probable bipolar disorder in a depressed phase." (PCR XIX. 1985). Dr. McClane would not commit to a definitive diagnosis, however, because he had never observed Orme in a manic state. (PCR XIX. 2006). Dr. Maher, on the other hand, concluded Orme was bipolar most recent episode unspecified, while Dr. Herkov opined his particular diagnosis was bipolar, NOS (not otherwise specified). (PCR. XVII 1826, XVIII 1875,1927). Dr. McClane and Dr. Maher came to two completely different conclusions as to whether Orme was in a manic or depressed state immediately before he checked into the Lee Motel. None of the doctors

testified they observed or had any objective evidence Orme had suffered a manic period for a week or more, yet Dr. Herkov told the court that the standard for diagnosing someone with bipolar disorder, presently, requires evidence of a manic episode lasting at least a week or any duration of hospitalization.

Dr. McClaren, who testified for the State, told the court that his review of Orme's case, including all the materials relied upon by Orme's experts, led him to the conclusion that it was likely Orme was not bipolar but was instead suffered from a depressive disorder. While Orme points to the fact that, of all the mental health experts who testified, Dr. McClaren was the only who had never talked to Orme, it is apparent that a personal interview with Orme is not particularly enlightening. Dr. McClane, a physician with thirty-two years of experience, detected no signs of Orme's alleged bipolar disorder in 1993, even though he followed the standard protocol intended to elicit information indicative of the presence of mania. (PCR XIX. 1999). Dr. McClaren's testimony, as did some of the other mental health experts, also established that while Orme had a history of contact with mental health experts both before his arrest and while on death row, none of those experts diagnosed Orme with bipolar disorder.

Accordingly, the trial court correctly concluded there was disagreement over how to diagnose Orme's mental state. The

court found that trial counsel presented testimony that resulted in both an instruction to the jury and a finding by the trial judge that both mental mitigators applied in his case. Additionally, the trial judge considered both statutory mental mitigators in rendering a sentence. The court correctly concluded that trial counsel was prepared and called two mental health experts as well as lay family witnesses on Orme's behalf. Finally, the court concluded that while there was conflict about Orme's diagnosis, all agreed Orme was addicted to cocaine and that drug addiction was a factor in the murder trial. While not directly saying so, it is clear the trial court concluded it was a reasonable strategy on trial counsel's part to choose to pursue a strategy clearly supported by objective and supportable evidence and not to pursue one that was not.

A defense counsel's informed strategic decisions do not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel if alternative courses have been considered and rejected. <u>Wiggins v. Smith</u>, 123 S.Ct. 2527 (2003); <u>Henry v. State</u>, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S753 (Fla. Oct. 9, 2003); <u>State v. Bolender</u>, 503 So.2d 1247, 1250 (Fla. 1987). In this case trial counsel investigated the case in mitigation. Mr. Smith did nothing to unreasonably limit the investigation of Dr. McClane. Certainly, he did not limit Dr. Warriner's investigation and evaluation as Dr. Warriner was brought on board just a month after Orme's arrest. He saw Orme

before, and more than, any other mental health expert. While Dr. Warriner maintains now he thought Orme was bipolar all along, he did not share that with trial counsel.

Additionally, trial counsel interviewed Dr. Walker, was aware of the dearth of evidence supporting his diagnosis and decided to play his strongest card - Dr. McClane. Orme has failed to demonstrate that counsel's performance was deficient or that Orme was prejudiced by trial counsel's strategic approach to Orme's defense.

Finally, Orme claims, without pointing to any case law supporting his contention, that had evidence of his bipolar disorder been presented at trial, the heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC) aggravator would have been eliminated "since [HAC] is a specific intent aggravator." (IB. 42). In fact, the HAC is <u>not</u> a specific intent aggravator.

Orme raised this issue on direct appeal, albeit it not in terms of a bipolar diagnosis. Rather, Orme made a general claim that his "mental state" precluded a finding of HAC. On appeal this court observed that:

Orme contends that his mental state at the time of the murder was such that he could not form a "design" to inflict a high degree of suffering on the victim. Thus, argues Orme, the trial court erred in instructing the jury regarding, and in later finding, the aggravating factor of heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Our case law establishes, however, that strangulation creates a prima facie case for this aggravating factor; and the defendant's mental state

then figures into the equation solely as a mitigating factor that may or may not outweigh the total case for aggravation. <u>Michael v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 138, 142 (Fla.1983), *cert. denied*, 465 U.S. 1013, 104 S.Ct. 1017, 79 L.Ed.2d 246 (1984).

<u>Orme v. State</u>, 677 So.2d at 263. As this issue has already been decided adversely against Orme, it is procedurally barred.

Even so, Orme's underlying assumption as to this claim is faulty. This Court has ruled the HAC aggravator does not turn on the intent of the defendant. Rather, this court has ruled that HAC "focuses on the means and manner in which the death is inflicted and the immediate circumstances surrounding the death, rather than the intent and motivation of a defendant, where a victim experiences the torturous anxiety and fear of impending death." <u>Barnhill v. State</u>, 834 So.2d 836, 849-850 (Fla. 2003). In <u>Barnhill</u>, the court noted that "if a victim is killed in a torturous manner, a defendant need not have the intent or desire to inflict torture, because the very torturous manner of the victim's death is evidence of a defendant's indifference." <u>Id</u>.

See also Cox v. State, 819 So.2d 705 (Fla. 2002)(intent to cause unnecessary and prolonged suffering is not necessary element of aggravating circumstance in capital murder prosecution that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel); <u>Bowles v. State</u>, 804 So.2d 1173, 1177 (Fla.2001) (stating that "there is no necessary intent element to HAC

aggravating circumstance"); <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, 755 So.2d 638, 644 (Fla.2000) (same). Accordingly, because specific intent is not at issue in establishing the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, Orme can point to no prejudice in failing to present evidence that Orme was bipolar.

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN DENYING ORME'S CONSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGE TO FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE

Orme claims that, pursuant to the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, Florida's capital sentencing structure is unconstitutional. Specifically, Orme claims he was not found guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of each element of capital murder. Orme challenges the State's failure to include, in Orme's indictment for first degree murder, the aggravating factors upon which it intended to rely in seeking the death penalty.

Orme contends that because <u>Ring</u> established that aggravating factors operate as the functional equivalent of an element of a greater offense, the State is required to allege such factors in the charging document, submit them to a jury, and prove them beyond a reasonable doubt. Orme also argues that Florida law requires a finding by a unanimous jury that "sufficient aggravating factors exist to call for a death sentence... [and] the mitigating circumstances are insufficient to outweigh the

aggravating circumstances." (IB. 62, 67). Orme claims that, like aggravating factors, these weighing processes constitute separate elements of capital murder and, as such, must be charged in the indictment, submitted to the jury and proven by a reasonable doubt. Finally, Orme argues that this court's decisions in <u>Bottoson v. Moore</u>, 833 So.2d 693 (Fla. 2002) and <u>King v. Moore</u>, 831 So.2d 143 (Fla. 2002) do not control the outcome of his case because Orme, unlike <u>Bottoson</u> and <u>King</u>, had not been previously convicted of a violent felony. Orme also points out that unlike <u>King</u>'s jury that recommended 12-0 that King be put to death, his jury was split 7-5 in favor of death. Finally, Orme makes a general argument that his <u>Ring</u> claim should be granted in light of emerging case law. (IB. 72).

A. Orme's Claims Are Procedurally Barred

Orme's <u>Ring</u> claims are procedurally barred. Orme did not raise any constitutional challenge to Florida's capital sentencing structure on direct appeal. Orme also failed to raise, on direct appeal, any claim concerning the State's alleged failure to include all of the elements of capital murder in the indictment. Failure to do so acts as a procedural bar to Orme raising this issue now. <u>Allen v. State</u>, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S604 fn. 4, (Fla. July 10, 2003); <u>Fennie v. State</u>, 831 So.2d 651 (Fla. 2002) (ruling that because Fennie could have

raised a claim that Florida's capital sentencing statute was unconstitutional on direct appeal, this claim was procedurally barred on postconviction motion); <u>Floyd v. State</u>, 808 So.2d 175 (Fla. 2002) (claim that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional is procedurally barred because it should have been raised on direct appeal); <u>Arbelaez v. State</u>, 775 So.2d 909, 919 (Fla. 2000) (challenges to the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty scheme should be raised on direct appeal; <u>Smith v. State</u>, 445 So.2d 323, 325 (Fla. 1983) (claim that Smith was deprived of due process by the state's failure to provide notice of the aggravating circumstances upon which it intended to rely in violation of the eighth and fourteenth amendments should have been raised on direct appeal and is not cognizable on collateral attack).

Orme failed to proffer any legally sufficient excuse for his failure to seek resolution of these issues in the appropriate forum. The fact that <u>Ring</u> had not yet been decided at the time Orme pursued his direct appeal does not preclude this Court from finding a procedural bar. This Court has applied procedural bar to bar claims brought under the predecessor decision rendered in <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), even in cases tried before the opinion in <u>Apprendi</u> was issued. <u>Barnes v. State</u>, 794 So.2d 590, 591 (Fla. 2001); <u>McGregor v.</u> <u>State</u>, 789 So.2d 976, 977 (Fla. 2001).

The issue addressed in Ring is by no means new or novel. This claim or a variation of it has been known since before the United States Supreme Court issued its decision in Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 252 (1976), in which it held that jury sentencing is not constitutionally required. In fact, the very existence of earlier decisions addressing judge versus jury sentencing demonstrates that the issue is not novel; it has been raised and addressed repeatedly. See e.g. <u>Hildwin v. State</u>, 531 So.2d 124, 129 (Fla. 1988) (concluding petitioner's claim that "the death penalty was unconstitutionally imposed because the jury did not consider the elements that statutorily define the crimes for which the death penalty may be imposed" was without merit); <u>Spaziano v. State</u>, 433 So.2d 508, 511 (Fla. 1983) (concluding that a judge's consideration of evidence not before the jury in deciding to sentence convicted murderer to death over jury's recommendation of life in prison was not improper); See also Barclay v. Florida, 463 U.S. 939 (1983) (upholding Florida capital sentencing structure). Thus, the basis for any Sixth Amendment attack on Florida's capital sentencing procedures has always been available to Orme. Yet, Orme failed to pursue these issues on direct appeal.

In <u>Turner v. Crosby</u>, 339 F.3d 1247 (11th Cir. 2003), the 11th Circuit ruled that Turner's <u>Ring</u> claim was procedurally

barred. In doing so, the Court rejected any notion that claims, like the one raised by Orme here, could not have been raised before the Supreme Court handed down the decision in <u>Ring</u>. The Court held that Turner could not excuse his failure to raise the issue in Florida's courts because Turner's <u>Ring</u> claim was not so new and novel that its legal basis was not reasonably available to counsel. Because Orme failed to seek resolution of these issues on direct appeal, his claim here is procedurally barred.

B. Ring Is Not Applicable Retroactively To Orme's Case

This court has consistently rejected the proposition that <u>Ring</u> applies to invalidate Florida's capital sentencing structure when the jury has recommended a sentence of death. Assuming, *arguendo*, that <u>Ring</u> has <u>any</u> effect on Orme's death sentence, <u>Ring</u> is not applicable retroactively to Orme's case.

On June 26, 2000, the United States Supreme Court decided the case of <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466 (2000). In <u>Apprendi</u>, the court held that a criminal defendant is entitled to a jury determination of any fact, other than the existence of a prior conviction, that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the statutory maximum.

Almost two years to the day after the Court's decision in <u>Apprendi</u>, on June 24, 2002, the United States Supreme Court

issued its decision in <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S.584 (2002). Neither the United States Supreme Court nor the Florida Supreme Court has directly addressed retroactivity of either <u>Ring¹⁶</u> or <u>Apprendi¹⁷</u>. However, all eleven federal circuit courts, as well as several state courts, have addressed the issue of whether <u>Apprendi</u> should be applied retroactively.¹⁸ These cases are instructive because <u>Ring</u> served to extend the dictates of <u>Apprendi</u> to death penalty cases. *See* <u>Cannon v. Mullin</u>, 297 F.3d 989 (10th Cir. 2002)(noting that <u>Ring</u> is simply an extension of <u>Apprendi</u> to the death penalty context.

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